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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

)
IAN PHILLIP JAMES, )
)
Plaintiff, )
)
V. ) Civil Action No. 07-2107 (RBW)

)
INTERNATIONAL PAINTERS AND )
ALLIED TRADES INDUSTRY PENSION )
PLAN, and )
GARY J. MEYERS, Administrator )
International Painters and Allied Trades )

Industry Pension Plan, )
)
Defendars. )

)

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Plaintiff lan Phillip James brings this action under BEraployee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974, 29 U.S.C. 88 1001-1461 (2006) (the “ERIS#I®ging that the
defendants wrongfully denied him pension benefits, did not provide an adequate explanation for
their decision to deny hirthesebenefits, andailed to produce certaipension plan documents.
SeeThird Amended Compl. (*3d Am. Compl.”) 11 22-46. Currently before the Goerthe
parties’ renewed crognotions for summary judgment. Upon careful consideration of the

parties’ motions and the entire record in this catbe Court concludes for the following reasons

! In addition to the third amended complaint, the Court considered the ifogj@wbmissions and their
supporting exhibits in rendering its decisi¢h) the Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment (“Pl.’'s Mot.”); (2)
the Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment (“Defs.” Mot.”); (3)deéndants’ Memorandum of Points and
Authorities in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgmentgf’ Mem.”); (4) theMemorandum of
Points and Authorities in Support of Defendants’ Renewed Motion for Suyndndyment (“Defs.’ Renew.
Mem.”); (5) the Plaintiff's Opposition to Defendants’ Renewed Motion for Summadgthent (consolidated with
the plaintiff's renewed motion for summygudgment) (“Pl.’s Renew. Mot.”); jathe Defendants’ Memorandum of
Points and Authorities in Reply to Plaintiff's Opgition to Defendants’ Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment
(Defs.” Renew. Reply”); (FtheDefendants’ Memorandum of Points afudthorities in Opposition to Plaintiff's
Motion for Summary Judgment (“Def&enew. Opp’n”); (B the Plaintiff's Reply to Defendant’s Opposition to
Plaintiff's Renewed Motion for Summary Judgméiftl.’s Renew. Reply”); (9) the defendants’ Supplemental
(continued . . .)
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thatthe defendants’ motion must be granted in part and denied in part, and that the plaintiff's
motion must be denied.
. BACKGROUND
A. Facts
The followingfacts arenot in disputeand are takem part froma memorandum opinion

previously issueth this case.SeeJames v. Int'Painters& Allied Trades Indus. Pension Plan,

710 F. Supp. 2d 16, 18t (D.D.C. 2010).The plaintiff was a member of the Glaziers Local
Union 963 (the “Union”)startingfrom at least August 1, 1962d. at 18. During his
membershiwith the Union, the plaintiff worked for various employers who contributed to the
Glaziers Local 963 Pension Plan (the “Local 9&hPor “Plan”). Id. The Local 963 Plan was
from its inceptiona trust fund administered by a joint labor-management board of trastees
defined under 29 U.S.C. § 186(c)(5). Id. Effective January 1, 11888 dcal 963 Plan merged
with the Internatonal Painters and Allied Trades Industry Pension Rien“Merged Plan”) Id.
The Merged Plan preserved all benefits that had vesteer the Local 963 Plarid.

This caseoncerngwo versions of the Local 963 Plan: one adopted in 1971 and another
in 1993. Both versions of thevcal 96 Plan contain the following pertinent componerits.

claim a vested interest inp@nsion an employee must have accrued ten years of service credit.

(. . . continued)

Declaration of Judith Sznyter in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Sumyndadgment (“Defs.” Suppl. Decl.”);
(10) the Plaintiff's Supplemental Memorandum in Support of Renewed Motion for Summary JudgPiest
Suppl. Mem.”); (11) the Defendants’ Supplemental Memorandum of Paidtéathorities in Support of
Defendants’ Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment (“Defs.” SuppmR); (12) the Plaintiff's Reply to
Defendants’ Supplemental Memorandum (“Pl.’s Suppl. Reply”); and (€3p#fendants’ Reply to Plaintiff's
Supplemental Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff's Renewed Motion for Sayndndgment (“Defs.” Suppl.

Reply”).



1971 Plan § 3.1; 1993 Plan § 3. Employeesvho incurred breaks in serviceprior to vesting
lost allaccrued service crediGeel971 Plan 8§ 2.8°An employee will incur a loss of credited
service when he fails to work at least 160 hours in any one of two (2) consecutivercalenda
years”); 1993 Plan § 4.3‘(f an Employee has five consecutive Breaks in Service before he has
earned Vested status, and if the number of consecutive Breaks in Service equededs his
number of years of Vesting, he has a Permanent Break in SefAvRRermanent Break in
Service has the effect of canceling the Employee’s participation, his psgviedited Vesting
Service, and his previous Benefit Service Service credits are divided ingither past service
credit, which is credit awarded for employment with a contributing employartoriOctober 1,
1965, or future service credit, whichasedit awarded for employment with a contributing
employer after October 1, 1965. 1971 Plan 88 2.1-2.2; 1993 Plan § 4.1.

The plaintiff, believing that he had accumulated “#4yBars of ceered employment,”
which would qualify him a%a vested member of the Glazdrocal 963 union,” submitted an
application for retirenma benefits to the defendants in February 208%Am.Compl. 11 5, 7.
The defendants denied the plaintiff's application on March 29, 208iBying thatthe records
provided to the Merged Plan by the Local 963 Riatine time of the mergelid not list the
plaintiff asa vested participant. Jam&4.0 F. Supp. 2d at 19 he plaintiffthen
administrativelyappealed theefendants’ denial of benefitdd. On August 23, 2005, ¢h

defendants denied tipdaintiff's administrativeappeal for the same reasatated in their initial

2 The tet and accompanying descriptions of the 1971 and 1993 versions of the Loc#@88gepreviously
submittedto theCourt in conjunction with the defendants’ first motion for summadgnent. The 1971 Plan is
found at ECF No. 14 (Declaration of Ken€prek) Exhibit (“Ex.”) 13 (Glaziers Local 963 Pension Fund Plan
Description and Text of Plan, Effective April 1, 1971), and the 1993 Planisifat ECF No. 18 (Declaration of
Kent Cprek) Ex. 40 (Glaziers Local 963 Pension Fund Plan Summary Planiptest and Text of Plan, As
Amended Effective January 1, 1993). For ease of referéme€ourill referencethese plandy listing the year
of the plan followed by the corresponding section number.



decision, but provided fdurtherreviewof the plaintiff's applicatiorupon receipt of a Sl
Security Adminstration (“SSA”)earnings repoffor the plaintiff. Defs’ Mot., Ex. 25 (August
23, 2005 Letter from Gary J. Meyers to lan P. James) @hé.defendants thereafter received
the plaintiff's SSAearnings report, but wetmable to determine from that record whether the
plaintiff had any additional work in covered employment under the Local 963Hltgualified
him as a vested Plan participardl., Ex. 32 (March 29, 2007 Letter from Gary Myers to Neil
Intrater) at 1.

However, dung their review of the plaintiff €laims the defendantdiscovered Local
963 Plan record from 1973 whialdicatedthatthe plaintiff had “accumulated 3.3 years of past
service credit before October 1, 1965, and 6.2 yeargwfef service credit,” foa total of 9.5
service credits Defs.” Renew. Mem. at;3eePl.’s Mot., Ex. 13 (Annual Pension List Fund for
Year Ending 181/1973 (“1973ensiorRecord”)). Based on this newly discovered record, the
defendants issued a revised determination on June 27,20&ding theplaintiff $409.68 in
monthly pension bendd. 3d Am. Compl. J 13At the plaintiff's request, the defendants

subsequently issued the following “breakaddwf their alculation of the $409.68 award:

Years of Service Benefit Level Benefit

3.3 years of Past Service Credi $1.50 $54.00
6.2 years of Future Service Cred $4.94 $355.68
Total Monthly Benefit $409.68

Defs.” Mot., Ex. 38 (August 16, 2007 Letter from Gary Meyers to Neil Intrater) a
After receivingthe defendant<larificationletter, the plaintiffadministrativelyappealed

the defadants’ June 27, 2007 $409.68 monthly pension award. Defs.” Mot., Ex. 39 (August 20,

3 As explainednfra at pages &, the defendants later acknowledgjeat theforegoingcalculation of the $409.68
awardwas mathematically incorrect.



2007 Letter from Neilntrater tothe International Painters and Allied Traders (“IPAT”) Boafd
Trustees) at 1Specifically,the plaintiffappealed the “amount of the award,” claiming that it
wasimproperly “calculated based upon 9.5 credits,” rather than the “14.54 credits” tolvehich
claimed entitlementld. In support of his kaim that hewvas entitled tdl4.54 service credits, the
plaintiff asserted that the defendants failed to creditfbirservice in covered employment from
1959 to 1972 and 1979 to 1980. Defs.” Mot., Ex. 4 (March 3, 2008 Letter from Gary Meyers to
Neil Intrater) at 2.

The defendants denied the plaintifidministrativeappeal by letter dated March 3, 2008.
Id. at2-4. In rejecting the plaintiff's appeathe defendants agaimghlightedthe 1973 Pension
Recordthat listedthe plaintiff as having only 9.5 serviceedits,notingthat the plaintiff failed to
produce “any reliable evidence of additional service beyond” what was statesl iecibid. Id.
at 2. Regarding the plaintiff €laimed service between 1959 dfi62, the defendants found that
while the plaitiff's SSA earningseport “show[ed] work before 1962 with Local 963 employers,
it [did] not show that this work was under a Local 963 Collective Bargaining Agr&ehand
thatit was “unlikely that the [plaintiff] worked continuously in the Local 963gaaming unit in
Maryland from 1959 to 1962 without union membershijgl’at 3. They deemed the plaintiffs’
“belated and sel$erving claim . . . about the nature of his work . . . insufficient to overcome the
contemporaneous recorddd. With respecto the claimed service credits in 1965, the
defendants explained that “Section 4.1(a) of the [1993 Plan] gives past serdit&cr@ny plan
year that began before [October 1, 1965],” where the employee “work[ed] under a Local 963
Collective Bargaininghgreement.”ld. at 2. Because the term “plan year” was not defined in

the 1993 Plan, the defendants inferred from the 1973 Pension Riegbtide term designated a



“calendar year.”ld. The defendants did not provide a detailed breakdown of how it concluded
that the plaintiff was entitled to 3.3 years of past service credit, but theyatedlsh credits

earned in “early 1965vere “drop[ped]”’ from the calculation, and the plaintiff instead received
“part[-]year credit” in 1965 for work performed “from October 1, 1965 to December 31, 1965.”
Id. Regarding service credit for 1966 to 1969, the defendants estimated the credit to which the
plaintiff was entitled by [computing] the ratio of earnings for years 1967, 1968, and 1969 from
contributing employers to the high earnings from contributing employers on thdiffiéa

Social Security] report in 1966.1d. at 3. The defendants claimed that this calculation, when
considered along with tHE973 Pension Record, confirmed that the plaintiff was omiiyled to

6.2 future service credits for the time period between 1966 and 18.72s for the disputed
service credits in 1979 and 1980, the defendants found “no record of contributory work in this
period beyond union membership from December 5, 1979 to April 2, 1980.”

While the plaintiff continued to dispute the defendants’ attribution to him of only 9.5
years of service, he ultimately decided that “due to the lack of documentationhé
[d]efendants,” as well as “concern[s] about retaliatitwe, would “discontinue the litigation.” 3d
Am. Compl. { 16. Accordingly, on June 7, 2008, the plaina®ecuted . . . acceptance forms
for the $409.68 pension.ld. 1 17. Howeverhy a letter datedune 19, 2008, the defendants
informed the plaintifthat they were rejecting his acceptance forms and retracerg/do.68
monthly pension award, based on their determination that he was not entitled to thatRivisar
Mot., Ex. 8 (June 19, 2008 Letter from Gary Meyers to lan James)Tdtelletterexplained that
the defendants did not altigre past or future service credits previously awarded to the plaintiff,

butthatthey did make twonodifications: firstthe defendants revised the amount that the



plaintiff should receive for past séce credi from $1.50 to $4.94; and second, they addreased
mathematical error contained in thAugust 16, 200¢larificationletterby adjusting the¢otal
benefit based on a correct computation of the plaintiff's service credit totéiiplied by the
monthlyaward ratesld. at 1-2.*
B. Procedural Background

The plaintiff instituted this action on November 20, 2007, and subseqgaemfyled his
original complaint twice. Highird amended complaintiled July 21, 2008, contains the
following seven conts: Count 1 “seeks compensatory damages for the past benefits that have
been improperly denied” to the plaintiff, 3d Am. Compl. f€dunt 2 “seeks a declaratory
judgment as to the amount of benefits, both past and future, to which [the plaintiff]ledgntit
and alternatively requests a “declaratory judgment that [the plaintéfjtifed to the $409.68 in
monthly benefits previously awarded by the [d]efendants,{j®2526; Count 3 asserts that the
defendants unlawfully retaliated against the plaintiff and one of the plamaivorkers in
violation of 29 U.S.C. § 1140, i 2#34; Count 4 “seeks injunctive relief directing [the
defendants] to pay the [p]laintiff the benefits to which [he] is entitled,” and toddigue their
retaliatory action$,id. f 3637; Count 5 asserts that the defendants unlawfully failed to provide
the plaintiff with “union employment records or relevant documentation and failed tal@rovi
[the p]laintiff with an understandable explanation for the denial of benefits” iatiaal of 29

U.S.C. § 1132(c)(1)(B) and 29 U.S.C. § 1133, id. 1 39; Céwasserts a claim for “common law

* Specifically, as indicated in the chattpraat page 4thedefendants’ clarification letter statahatthe plaintiff was
entitled to $54.00 per mdmbased on his 3.3 years of past service coadtiulatecht a rate of $1.50 per year, and
$355.68 per month based on his 6.2 years of future service catmlitatecat a rate of $4.94 per yedor a total of
$409.68 in monthly énefits. Defs.” Mot.Ex. 38 (August 16, 2007 Letter from Gary Meyers to Neil Intrater) at 1.
Simple arithmetienakes clear, however, that multiplying 3.3 years of past semaciét at a rate of $1.50 yields
benefit of $4.95 per month, and that multiplying 6.2 years oféuservice credit at a rate of $4.94 per month yields
a benefit of $30.63yhich would result ira total monthly benefit adnly $35.58, not $409.68.
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breach of contract” against the defendaicksy 44; and Count iequests attorneys’ fees and
costs,id. 1 46.

By memorandum opinion dated April 30, 2010, this Court granted summary judgment to
the defendants as to the plaintiff's claims for retaliation, breach of cordratgccess to certain
employment and union record3ames710 F. Supp. 2d at 29-32s to theplaintiff's claims for
denial of benefits and access to Plan documents, the Court denied the parties’ motions for
summary judgment without prejudice, and remanded this case to the defendants for a
determination of whether the plaintiff's benefit application fell under the 1971 or 19§i8vef
the Local 963 Plan. Seeid. at 2629. In the eventhe defendants concluded that the 1971 Plan
applied, the Court orderedem to make &ull and fair assessment of [the plaintiff's] claims”
using the standards set forth in the 1971 Rdanletermining whether the plaintiff has a vested
pension under the Local 963 Plan, and provitidesar communication to the claimant of the
specific reasons for benefit denials, if any, under the terms of that version adrtielgl at 27

(quoting Black & Decker Disability Plan v. Nord, 538 U.S. 822, 825 (2003)) (internal quotation

marks omitted).
Following the Court’s remand, the defendants determined that the 1971 Plan controlled,
but that, even under this version of the plan, there was no basi#édring their previous
findings. Defs.” Renew. Mem., Ex. 45 (July 9, 2010 Letter from Gary J. Meyers tinhater
Re: lan James Benefit Appeal) atPhe defendantalso endeavored to offer a “more coherent

explanation” for their determinationahthe plaintiff was entitled tonly 3.3 years of past

® The defendants later explained that they did not consider the provisidresk&#1 Plan in their initial decision
because they did not possess a copy of the Plan document until the pladtiffqxt it during discoverjpefs.’
Renew. Mem., Ex. 45 (July 9, 2010 Letter from Gary J. Meyers to NeténtRe: lan James Benefit Appeal) at 2.



service credit Id. Theyreiterated their view that tHE973 Pension Record, which accorded the
plaintiff 3.3 years of past service credit and 6.2 years of future servilig gvas the “best

available remaining record of service,” and added that this record’s indicatiohehaatntiff

fell short of the 10 years of service required for vesting explained wiplaimeiff was not listed

as avested employee in the Union’'taR records at the timaf the Union’smerger with the

IPAT. Id. As justification for theireliance on thd973 Pension Record, the defendants noted
that their general practice is “to rely on plan records, particularly ifdahegonsistent with other
records, as the bestdisi for uniform treatment of all employeedd. at 3. The defendants
furtherstatel that the Local 96®lan documents, as well as the ptdfis union membership

records showing a Union “initiation date” of August 1962, supported an award of 3.3 past
service cedits to the plaintiff focovered employmeritom August 1, 1962, to October 31,

1965. Id. While acknowledging that the plaintiff's SS#arnings report showed work prior to
August 1962 with “glass industry employers,” the defendants adhetiee€itoiewthat this

work was not “covered by the collective bargaining agreement” and thus did not couwnat towa
the plaintiff's credited serviceld. The defendants additionally notiéxt the plaintiff, after

earning only 9.5 service credits (0.5 credits short of the number needed for vestoay)eired
employmenfrom 1962 to 1972, had an “acknowledged break in contributory work from 1973 to
1979.” Id. Because the terms of the 1971 Plan provided that employees with less than 10 years
of service crdit lost all credit on a break of 2 calendar years with less than 160 hours of credit,
the defendants concluded that the plaintidithnittedbreak in service cantted all of his service

credit for 1962 to 19721d.



The parties thereafter renewed th@mssmotions for summary judgment. Byder
dated September 19, 2011, the Court again denied the parties’ cross-motions for summary
judgment without prejudice arahce again remanded this casek to the defendants.

September 19, 2011 Order at’l@me v. Int’'| Painters& Allied Trades Indus. Pension Plan, No.

07-2107(D.D.C.) (“September 19, 2011 Order"While agreeing “with the defendants’
explanation that the 1971 Plan governs this case,” id. at 2 n.1, the Court foun tiokuds’
interpretatio of the Pan unreasonablég. at 7. Namely, the Court found fault with the
defendants’ determinatidhat the plaintiff was entitled to 3y&ars of past service credits, as the
1971 Plan plainly doesdt contemplate the use of partial years of crddigzvice because it

only speaks of awarding credits in one year incrememds.at 6. The Court concluded that this
interpretation of the 1971 Plan, even under a deferential standard of review, coulddhokdsta
Because the “amount of the plaifisfcredited service will have ramifications for his remaining
claims,” the Court deemed it imprudent to further analyze the parties’ an¢gii@ed thus
remanded this case to the defendants “to afford them another opportunity to céheulate
plaintiff’'s past service credits in a manner that is reasonably supported by the languagee . . of t
1971 Plan.”Id. at 7-8.

In accordancevith the Court’s order, the defendants sent the plaintiff a letter that served
as a “written calculation and explanationhe plaintiff . . . of the amount of past service credits
[to which] he is entitled.” Pl.’s Suppl. Mem., Ex. 53 (October 13, 2011 Letter from Kent Cprek
to Neil Intrater) at 1.Thedefendants determined that fhlaintiff is entitled to only 3 years of
past service creditsd. at 4, based on the following factors. First, the 1971 Plan language

provides tlat covered employees receivefalf'year’s credit forevery year workedinder a

10



bargainingagreement of the union,” which, in the defendants’ vie#misst consistent with
credit only for completed full years before October 1, 1968.(emphasis addedsecond, a
1972 amendment to the Plan provided past service credit for “service performedfBiagac

Year that begins before October 1, 19&%ypart of whichthe employee was covered by a

collective bargaining agreement of thaith”; according to the defendants, this modified
languagé'suggests a chge in the meaning of the Planld. (emphasis added). Third, the
defendants stated that the “Plan records indicate both the change in the [P]lzat &mel ¢thange
was not retroactive, so that the amendment did not affect James nor restoredisiyre
cancelled service to allow him to vestd. Finally,thedefendants found that the “Merger
Agreement with the Local 9634dn expressly indicates” that the Merged Plan trustaest rely
“on the accuracy of information provided by the Local 963 Plan trustees,” and tHd§ugij]
information was inaccurate, the [Merged] Planstees weredllowed to reduce future benefit
accruals for Local 963 Plan employees to account for the increased ddst$liey added that
the Merged Platrustees arénot now in a position to find and correct past service records for
those who left before the mergarestimate the associated costil’”

Following issuance of this letter, and at the parties’ request, the Coutateithe
parties’ previously denied cross-motions for summary judgment, and directed semalem
briefing based on the defendan@toberl3, 2011 determination. In their supplemental
memorandum, the defendants reiterate their contentions that (1) the 1971 Plan,aattiex th
1993 Plan, applies in this case; (2) even if the 1993 Plan conlmfdaintiff is barred from
pursuing any claims based on the 1993 summary plan description; and (3) under the 1971 Plan,

the plaintiff is entitled to only 3 years of past service credit. Defs.” Supgh.Mt 2-3. The

11



plaintiff responds, assertirigat(1) the 1993 Plan is the contlialy version of the PlarRl.’s
Suppl. Reply at 1; (Zhe terms bthe 1993 Plan establish thatiseentitled to a higher benefit
multiplier than what is being offered by the defendantsgti®4; and (3) higestimony and
Social Security records demonsgréhat he worked in covered employment between 1959
through 1965, and he therefore shdokdgranted at least 6 years of past service ciddét 4-5.
The plaintiff adds that “the [d]efendants have continued to ignore the uncontradictette\of
over 14 years of credits” for covered employment from 1959 through 1972, 1979, and 1980,
“and have aatinued to refuse to award [him] his rightful pension.” Pl.’s Suppl. Mem. at 2.
[I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court previously founthat adeferental standard of review appli¢s the plaintiff's
wrongful denial obenefits clainunder the ERISAseeJames710 F. Supp. 2d 23-24, aitd
discerrs no reason to depdrom thatdeterminationseeSeptember 19, 2011 Order at 6
(“Despite the attempts by the plaintiff to revive his argument thetr@ovo standard of review
should be applied, . . . the Court remains unconvinced that this is the appropriate approach to
employ.”). This standard of review has been “variously described by the [Supgennt]s
‘arbitrary and capricious’ or ‘abuse of discretion,” but, regardless of how it &sptr the

standard “is plainly deferential.WWagener v. SBC Pension Benefit Pldon-Bargained

Program 407 F.3d 395, 402 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (citirgestone Tire & Ruber Co. v. Bruch, 489
U.S. 101, 111-115 (198p) The District of Columbia Circuit “has defined thigestone

deferential standard as one of ‘reasonablenesd.’ {quoting_Block v. Pitney Bowes, Inc., 952

F.2d 1450, 1454 (D.C. Cir. 1992)). Thus, in appy thisstandardthe “essatial inquiry” for

this Court is whether the defendants “reasonably construe[d] and appthedlbcal 963lan

12



in this case.Block, 952 F.2d at 1454. “If there is more than one action that is ‘reasonable,’ the
Court must not overturn a decision found to be reasonable, even if an alternative deasion als
could have been considered reasonablé.’at 1452 (internal quotations omitted).

As noted, this matter isurrentlybefore the Court on the partiesnewedrossmotions
for summary judgment. Ordinarilyusimary judgment is appropriate whétlee pleadings, the
discovery and disclosure materials on file, and any affidavits show thatshergenuine issue
as to any material fact and that the movant is entitleaddgment as a matter of lawFed.R.
Civ. P. 56(c). Butin an ERISA cas¢yw]hen the decision to grant or delognefits is reviewed
for abuse of discretion, a motion for summary judgment is merely the condungatoeilegal
guestion before the district court and the usual tests of summary judgment, sinetres a

genuine dispute of material fact exists, do not apply.” Bendixen v. Standard Ins. Ca3d85 F

939, 942 (9th Cir.1999), overruled on other ground&hatie v. Alta Health & Life Ins. G., 458

F.3d 955, 966-69 (9th Cir. 2006) (en baragcordOrndorf v. Paul Revere Life Ins. Co., 404

F.3d 510, 517 (1st Cir. 20p8[I] n an ERISA case where review is based only on the
administrative record before the plan administrator and is an ultcoatdusion as to disability
to be drawn from the facts, summary judgment is simply a vehicle for dedmingsue.”).
Thus,insofar aghe parties’ summary judgment moticsencern the defendants’ denial of
benefits to the plaintiff, the motions arexely procedural vehiclefr the Court’s determination

of whether the defendants’ actions were reasorfable.

® The arguments made by the plaintiff in support of his renewed sunjutiyent motion reveal his
misunderstanding of the scope and nature of the Court’s reviewwfdrig/ful denial of benefits claim. In

particular, he contends that he is entitled to summary judigbeesause he has submitted affidavits, deposition
testimony, and other filings that have gonerebutted by the defendants, and that “[t]he rules of summary judgment
therefore mandate that [the plaintiff's] evidence be accepted as the uadifgeis.” Pl.’'s Renew. Reply at kee
alsoPl.’s Suppl. Mem. at%. As just explained above, this is not the correct standard to apply wieming an

ERISA denial of benefits claim under a deferential standard of review.
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[ll. ANALYSIS

The Court must first evaluatbe defendants’ determination that the 1971 version of the
Local 963 Plan governs this cadéext, he Court willaddresshe plaintiff'swrongful denialof
benefits claim under the ERISAoking at botithe reasonableness of the defendants’
interpretation of thapplicableLocal 963 Plan as wedls the adequacy of tleeplanation for
thar denial of baefits to the plaintiff. Finally, the Courtvill consider theplaintiff's claim based
on the defendants’ alleged failure to produtanRliocuments.
A. The Controlling Version of the Local 963 Plan

As explained above, the Court previously remanded this case to the deféadants
determination of which version of the Local 963 Plan applied tpltigtiff's claim for benefits,
after which the defendants issued a letter on July 9, 2010, concluding that the 1971 Plan
controlled. The Court then issued its September 19, 2011 Order, in which it stated in a footnote
thatit “agree[d] with the defendants’ explanation that the 1971 Plan governs this case.”
September 19, 2011 Order at 2 n.1. plantiff resiststhis conclusion in his supplemental
memorandumreiterating higosition that the 1993 Plan governs. Pl.’s Suppl. Raiply3.
Because the Court did not previously provide a detailed explanation af adgeptedhe
defendants’ view that the 1971 Plan applies, it will do so now.

Section 11.4 of the 1993 Plan provides as follows:

The terms and conditions of the Plan as restated herein shall amend and

supersede, effective October 1, 1976, the terms and conditions of the Glaziers

Local 963 Pension Plan, as in effect prior to October 1, 1976; prondeckver,

that the provisions of such prior plan shall continue to govern the rights of all

Employees who were covered thereunder and who do not become Active
Employees on or after October 1, 19&&cept as otherwise stated herein

14



1993 Plan § 11.emphasis added)As for who constitutes an “Active Employee” under the
1993 Plan, Section 1.2 states:

“Active Employee” means, as of the date in question, an Employee or former
Employee who is other than a Retired Employee, and who has not incurred a one
yea Break in Servicegr if he has incurred a ongar Break in Service, has had
contributions made to the Plan on his behalf subsequent to his most recent one
year Break in Servicé provided however, that an employee who has not had
contributions made tthe Plan on his behalf on or before October 1, 1976, shall
not be considered to be an Active Employee.

1993 Plan § 1.2 (emphasis added). Incorporated within the definittbe térm*Active
Employee” is the term “Employee,” which the 1993 Plan defasee%ny person who is covered
by a collective bargaining agreement between his Employer and the Union . . . @hdriothe
Employer is required to contribute to this Plan pursuant to the collective bargajnesgreent.”
1993 Plan § 1.11.

According tothe defendants, Section 11.4 of the 1% “preserves the [1971 Rh for
any Participants in the Plan before October 1, 1976[,] who did not have contributions paid to the
Local 963 [Plan] for their work after October 1, 197®g&fs.” Renew. MemEx. 45 (July 9,
2010 Letter from Gary J. Meyers to Neil Intrater Ret James Benefit Appeal) at 2. Because
the plaintiff was covered under the 1971 Plan, and because the defendants found “no evidence of
any contributions to the Local 963 Plan for work the[gdaintiff] after October 1, 1976 the
defendants concluded that the 1971 Plan, not the 1993 Plan, applied to the pldintiff.

In challenging thelefendants’ determination that the 1971 Plan contiiaésplaintiff first
contends that any attemptdistinguish between the 1971 and 1993 Pisnssguided because

they arenot separate plans, bamendd descriptions of the same plaBeePl.’s Renew. Motat

’ As discussed in greater detiaifra at page 20 of this memorandum opinion, the plaintiff admittedly incurred a
five-year break in service from 1973 to 1978.

15



5-7; Pl.’s Suppl. Reply at 2This argument misses the mark. While it is true thail ¥l and
1993 Plansremerelydifferent versions of the same pension plan, it is equally clear that the
1993 Plamprecludeghe applicability of the 199Blan amendments “[e]mployees who were
coveredby the 1971 Plan] and who do not become Active Employees on or after October 1,
1976” 1993 Plan § 11.4. Thus, based on the 1993 Plan’s plain langhagiefendants
reasonably concludatiat the 1993 Plan “preserves the [197aiPfor any Participants in the
Plan before October 1, 1976[,] who did nové&aoriributions paid to the Local 963 [Plafgr
their work after October 1, 1976Defs.” Renew. Mem.Ex. 45 (July 9, 2010 Letter from Gary
J. Meyers to Neil Intrater Réan James Benefit Appeal) at 2.

The plaintiffalso raises a more substantial objection to the defendants’ con¢haion
the 1971 Plan controlsramely, that he was an “Active Employee” after October 1, 1976
thereby makinghe 1993 amendments applicable to him pursuant to Section 11.4 of the 1993
Plan. Pl.’s Renew. Moat 7-9; see1993 Plan § 11.4 (providing that the 1993 Plan shall apply to
employees whavere coered by the 1971 Plan and wHaet[a]me Active Employees on or after
October 1, 196”). According to the plaintiff, the undisputed evidence shows that he worked in
1979 and 1980 fdBeltway Glass Compan{/Beltway”), a unionemployerwho made
contributions to the Local 963 Plan on his behalf. Pl.’s Renew. Mot. at 8-9. And the plaintiff
contends that such contributiomsaide him afiActive Employee” after October 1, 196%®es
1993 Plan § 1.2, thus triggering the applicability of the 1993 B&#1,993 Plan § 11.4.

The defendants acknowledtat Beltway hadollective bargaininggreements witthe
Union in 1979 and 1980, and they do not displét Beltwaymade contrilaitions to the Local

963 Plan on behalf of its employees in 1979 and 1&#&Defs.” Suppl. Decl. § 5. However,
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the defendantgoint out that thelaintiff was “anowner of Beltway Glass Compafiyld. The
plaintiff's status as an owner, the defendassert, establishéthat he was not covered by the
collective bargaining agreemeriietween Beltway and the Uniam1979 and 1980Id. The
defendants thuadhere to their conclusidhat the plaintiff has no proof of work after October 1,
1976,with anemployerwho madecontributions to the Local 9&3lanon his behalf, and théte
1971 Plan consequently controls. Defs.” Renew. Opp’n at 6-9; Defs.” Suppl. Reply at 4-6.
The Court finds that the defendants’ conclusion restsreasonable interpretat of the
Local 963 Plan and the record in this case. For the 1993 Plan to applytaittié, he had to
be an‘Active Employee” on or after October 1, 1976 (i.e., his employer had to make
contributions to the Local 963 Plan on his behalf oaftar October 1, 1976)Seel1993 Plan 88
11.4, 1.2. The only unioemployment claimed by the plaintiff aft®xctober 1,1976,is with
Beltwayin 1979 and 1980SeePl.’s Reply, Ex. 41 (Supplemental Affidavit of lan James) at 1-2
(detailing the plaintiff's emipyment from 1959 to 1980). To be sulee recordeveals that
Beltwayhad acollective bargming agreement with the Union in 1979 and 19&&Defs.’
Suppl. Decl., Ex. 1 (AgreemeBetween Beltwaynd the Union, effective October 1, 1978 to
SeptembeB0, 1981)and that Beltway madeontributions to the Local 963 Plan in 1979 and
1980, eePl.’s Renew. Reply, Ex. 52 (Cash Receipts and Hours spreadsheet]raflédiing
pension payments froBeltway to the Union in 1979 and 1980). Bas the deferahts point
out, theplaintiff admittedlywas not an employee Beltway—he was one of itewners. See
e.g, Deposition oflan Philip JamefECF No. 17-1] at 128-29:2 (acknowledginghat the

plaintiff was “an owner of a partnership callBdltway Glass’); Defs.” Suppl. Decl., Ex. 1
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(Agreement Between Beltway and the Union, effective October 1, 1978 to Sep8mhes1)
at 24 (signed by lan Philip James on behaBeitway).

Based orthe plaintiff'sstatus as an owner of Beltway in 1979 and 198 defendants
reasonablygleterminedhat he was not dif\ctive Employee”of Beltwayduring these years.
The defendants’ conclusion is supported by the 1993 Plan language in two reBpettthe
plaintiff was not an “Employee” within the meaag of the 1993 Plan, which isreecessary
component of qualifying as an “Active Employeélhe 1993 Plan defines “Employee” as “any
person who is covered by a collective bargairsggeement bateen his Employer and the
Union . . . and for whom the Employer is required to contribute to this Plan pursuant to the
collective bargaining agreemeiit1993 Plan 8§ 1.11. And thmllective bargaining agreement
betwea Beltway and the Union prohibited “owners” an@&fployershaving a proprietary
interest in the businestrom performing any work under ttegreementDefs.” Suppl. Decl., Ex.
1 (Agreement Between Beltway and the Union, effective October 1, 1978 to Sep8&nbe
1981) at 6, thus indicating that owners, such as the plaintiff, were not cdetleatagreement.
In view of their finding that thelaintiff wasnot coveredy the collective bargaining agreement
between Beltway and the Unidhwas reasonabl®r the defendants to conclude that the
plaintiff was not an “Employeah 1979 and 198&ndthat he cornsquently was not an “Active
Employeé during those yearsSeeDefs.” Suppl. Reply at 6Secondbecause thplaintiff was
not covered by the collective bargaining agreenmigeltway’s contributions to the Local 963
Plan in 1979 and 1980 for bargaining unit warére not tontributions made to the Plan on [the

plaintiff's] behalf” 1993 Plan 8§ 1.2 (emphasis addedprerequisite for the plaintiff to qualify as

an “Active Employee.”
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Accordingly, the defendants reasonaligterminedhat(1) the evidencef Beltway’s
contributions to the Local 963 Plan in 1979 and 1980 did not prove that the plaintiff was an
“Active Employee” after October 1, 197&8nd (2) in light of the absence@fidence showing
contributory work bythe plaintiff after October 1, 1978)e1971 Plan governs this cade.

Summary judgmends tothe applicability of the 1971 Plan is therefore granted to the defendants.
B. The Plaintiff’'s Claim for Wrongful Denial of Benefits

Under the ERISA, a participant in a covered plan maytsuecover benefits due to him
under the terms of the plan, to enforce his rights under the terms of the plan, orydidarif
rights to future benefits under the terms of the plan.” 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(1)(B). Counts 1 and 2
of the third amended complairgeksuchbenefits and declaratory reliehder this provision of
the ERISA. See3d Am. Compl. 1 22-26ln assessinthe plaintiff's claim for wrongful denial
of benefits it is first necessary to understaseveralpertinent provisions of the 1971 Plan.

To claim a vested interest in a pension under the 1971 Plan, an employee must have
accrued at least 10 years of service credit. 1951 $3.1. Service credits are divided into
either past service credit, which is credit awarded for employment wahtabuting employer
prior to October 1, 1965, or future service cradhich is credit awarded f@amployment with a
contributing employer after October 1, 1968. 88 2.1-2.2.Past service credits are calculated
in terms ofwhole years with nallowance fompartial creditseeSeptember 19, 2011 Order at 6

(determining that 1971 Plan clearly “does not contemplate the use of paatialof credited

8 The plaintiff also asserts that the 1993 Plan is made applicable to himglthttee merger agreement between the
Union and the IPAT Pl.’s Suppl. Mem. at-B. That agreement, which was made effective January 1, 1998,
incorporates the Local 963 Plan “as amended and restated through Octt®%,-and as thereafter amended and
restated.” Defs.” Mot., Ex. 42 (Merger Agreement) § 2.04. Yet, thaatthe merger agreement incorporates the
terms of the 1993 Plan does not aid the plaintiff's position, because the 1898 Pkdanapplicableto the

plaintiff by its own terms See1993 Plan § 11.4.
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service because it only speaks of awarding credits in one year incremehergagpartial
credit isawardedor future servicel971 Plan 8§ 2.2 (granting “tenths of credit” for future service
based on certain ranges of hours worked in covered employment). If, prior to comjleting
years of credited servidee., prior to vesting), an employee worked fewer than 160 hours for
two consecutig calendar years, that employee, absent two exceptionsalbsexlited service.
1971 Plan 8§ 2.3 (providing that “[&]ss of credited service will cause the cancellation of all
credited service accrued to datettbpast and future,” except under certain conditions involving
disability and military service, which amn®t applicable in this cake

The plaintiff acknowledges lareak in service from 1973 to 1978eePl.’s Reply, Ex. 41
(Supplemental Affidavit ofdn James) dt-2 (detailingall contributory service from 1959 to
1980, and listing no employment for 1973 through 1978); Deposition of lan Philig JEQE
No. 17-1] at 128:17-19 (acknowledging non-union employment with Beltway from 1973 through
1978); Pl.’s Suppl. Mem. at 5 (contending that the undisputed evidence demonstrates that th
plaintiff is entitled to 14.54 years of service credits for service in “1959 through 1972, and 1979
and 1980”). Thus, unless he vested prior to 1973, the pladtfitedly incurreda twoyear
break in service that caaled all of his service crediGeel971 Plan § 2.3.

In denying the plaintifbenefits, the defendants determined that he indarcomplete
loss ofservice credibecause he did not accrue Hays ofservice prior to 1973. Defs.” Renew.
Mem.,Ex. 45 (July 9, 2010 Letter from Gary J. Meyers to Neil Intrateddelames Benefit
Appeal) at 4. According to the defendankee plaintiff is entitled to 3 years of past service
credit for workhe performedrom August 1962 to October 1965, Pl.’s Suppl. Mem., Ex. 53

(October 13, 2011 Letter from Kent Cprek to Nelil Intrater) at 4-5, and 6.2 years ef $etwice
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credit for workhe performedrom October 1965 to April 197Defs.” Renew. MemEXx. 45

(July 9 2010 Letter from Gary J. Meyers to Neil Intrater Rex James Benefit Appeal) at 4
With a tdal of only 9.2 service credits prior to 1973s the defendants’ position that the
plaintiff did not vesfor the receipt of benefitsefore incurring hisive-year brak inservice

from 1973 to 1978, thus resulting in the termination o$atlice credit.Defs.” Suppl. Reply at
2. The plaintiff, on the other hand, contends that he vested employdsecause he intitled

to 14.54 years of seice credt. Pl.’'s Renew. Mot. at 11Specifically, he claims that he worked
from 1959 through 1972, and again in 1979 and 1980 in covered employmeat{plyment
covered bycollective bargaining agreements with the Uniold. at 3. The Court will conside
the plaintiff's disputed service credit in chronological order.

1. Past Service Credit for Work Performed from 1959 through 1962

The 1971 Plan awards employee® year of past service credit for each yeanr to
October 1, 1965, during whichay weae “employed under collectively bargained agreements of
the Union.” 1971 Plan § 2.1. Regarding the plaintiff's claimed work from 1959 through 1962,
the parties’ dispute concerns whether the plaintiff's work was covered loy dsilective
bargaining agrements.

The plaintiff claimsthat between 1959 and 1962 he workedefoployers who had
collective bargeming agreements with the Union. Pl.’s Reply, Ex. 41 (Supplemental Affidavit of
lan James) at 1As support for his positigrthe plaintiff relieson his own affidavit and
deposition testimony, as well ks SSAearnings reportPl.’s Suppl. Mem. at 6:8He also
relies on a copy of hiSSAearnings repotthatcontains notations by one of the defendants’

employees, purportedly identifyirigose empdyers who had collectivieargaining agreements
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with the Union. SeePl.’s Renew. Mot., Ex. 44 (April 12, 20@ax from Tim Edney to Patricia
Convey re lallames wittrAnnotatedSSA Earnings ReporAttached) at 28; see alsd®efs.’
Renew. Opp’n at 8 n.3 (askwledgingthat“the ‘yes’ notations [on the SSéarnings repoft
were made by Tim Ednew retired officer of the [IPATDistrict Council 51,” and explaining
that “[tlhe Plan asked him to identify employers who had Local 963 Plan agre€ients

The defedantsdeclined tocredit the plaintiff for anyork he performegbrior to August
1, 1962. Defs.” Renew. Opp’n at 4. hilé acknowledginghat the SSAearnings report “shows
work before 1962 with Local 963 employers,” the defenddetsrmined thathis record sheds
no light on whether the plaintiff's pr#962 workwas covered “under a Local 963 [c]ollective
[blargaining [a]greemehts required by the 1971 Plan. Defs.’ Mot., Ex. 4 (March 3, 2008
Letter from GaryMeyers to Neilintrater) at 3.The defendatsaddedhatthe plaintiff's Union
membership records show that he was not initiated into the Union until August 1, 1962, and
reveal no payment of union duesthg plaintiff prior to this datehtese records, in the
defendants’ viewdemonstratéhat the plaintiff was not working under a Uniaollective
bargaining agreeménntil August 1, 1962Defs.” Renew. Mem.Ex. 45 (July 9, 2010 Letter
from Gary J. Meyers to Neil Intrater Re: lan James Benefit Appeal) at Bedse Mot., Ex. 10
(Official Membership Book of Brotherhood of Painters, Decorators, and Paperhangers) at 1
(listing the plaintiff's “Date ofUnion] Initiation” as “81-62"). Asfor the plaintiffs’testimony
regarding his workinder collective bargaining agreemeintsn 1959 to 1962, ¢ndefendants
foundthat“[t]he belated and selerving claim of the [plaintiff] about the nature of his work at
this point is insufficient to overcome the contemporaneous records.” Defs.” Mot ,(Earch

3, 2008 Letter from Gary Meyers to Neil Intngtat 3. The “contemporaneous records” to which
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the defendants referreate the Union membership records, as welhapreviously discussed

1973 Pension Record, whiaidicatesthat the plaintiffaccumulated®.3 years of past service

credit seesupraat 3; Pl.’'s Mot., Ex. 13 (1973 Pension Recprd hedefendants determinddat
the1973 Pension Recoslattribution of 3.3 past service creditsthe plaintiff is consistent with

past servicatartingfrom the plaintiff’'s Unon initiation dateof August 1, 1962, and ending on
October 31, 1965. Defs.” Renew. Mem., Ex. 45 (July 9, 2010 Letter from Gary J. Meyers to Neil
Intrater Re: lan James Benefit Appeal) afdr these reasonthe defendants found it “unlikely

that [theplaintiff's work from 1959 to 1962] was covered by the collective bargaining

agreemat.” Defs.” Renew. Mem., Ex. 45 (July 9, 2010 Letter from Gary J. Meyers to Nell
Intrater Re: lan James Benefit Appeal) at 3.

The Court deems the defendamsterminatiorreasonableTheyrecognizé that the
plaintiff worked for employers with Union collective bargaining agreemeats 1959 to 1962,
but foundno reliable evidencthat the plaintiff’s work during this period was covered by those
agreements such that pastvssr credit should be awardedhe defendantiirther concluded
that theUnion membership records and 1973 PenBienord indicatehat the plaintiff's work
was not covered by the agreements, an inferéme€ourtviews as reasonablélhe only
evidence supporting the plaintgfclaimedwork history under collective bargaining agreements
with the Union was thplaintiff's own testimony, which the defendants deerfigelated,” “selt
serving,” and outweighed by “the contemporaneous records.” Defs.” Mot., Ex. 4n(Bla2608
Letter from Gary Meyers to Neil Intrater) at Because the standard of review here is
deferential, the Court may nagubstitute [its] own weighing of the evidence for that of the

administrator.” Wilcox v. Liberty Life Assur. Co. of Boston, 552 F.3d 693, 702 (8th Cir. 2009)
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(internal quotation marks and citation omitted). And althd{ighplan administrator abuses its
discretion wien it ignores relevant evidencéq: at 701, or, worse yelyhen it “focuse[s] a
slivers of information thatould bereadto support a denial of [benefits] and ignore[s]—without
explanatior—a wealth of evidence that directly contradict[] its basis for denying [bejiiefits

Metro. Life Ins. Co. v. Conger, 474 F.3d 258, 265 (6th Cir. 2007) (emphasis in origineal),

defendants did not engage in such conduct here. They ingtggited all the evidence
presented to them armdfereda rationalexplanation of why, in their view, the plaintiff had not
sufficiently proven that his work from 1959 to 1962 weesformedunder a collectivéargaining
agreement with the Union.

The plaintiffassertghat from 1959 to 1961 he worked as a “journeyman . . . for union
employers and was covered under collective banggiagreements with the [U]nidrand that,
during this time period, he “paid union dues,” his “union employers paid union contributions for
him,” and he “received peric union membership cards.” Pl.’s Renew. Mdtl5 Although
seemingly acknowledging that while workiag a journeyman he was not formally initiated into
the Unon, the plaintiff contends that “even under an abuse of discretion standard, benefits
cannot be denied to an employee simply because he has not yet been initiated into the union.”

Id. at 16. He citesKennedy v. Electricians Pension Plan, IBEW No. 996, 954 F.2d 1116 (5th

Cir. 1992), as support for his positiom Kennedy, gplan administrator denied past service
credit to an employee for his work as an apprentice electrii@aause the wogkrecededis
union initiation date.ld. at 1122-23. TheFifth Circuit foundthat the plan administrator’s
reading of the plan requiring this result was unreasonable:

The relevant language from the Plan . . . does not support Appeljaodégion

that the Plan requires initiation into the Union for entitlement tst garvice

credits. The language plainly states that employees who were active members of
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the “Collective Bargaining Unit” in October 1970 will receive past service tcredi

for every year of continuous and unbroken service in the collective bargaining

unit. As we read the Plan, Kennesdy¢ontinuous membership in the collective

bargaining unit between October 1950 and October 1970, entitled him to Plan

coverage.

There is simply no language in the Plan to support the Trusteegpretation.

Initiation into the Union is not specified as a prerequisite for such credit.

Moreover, the language that requires submission of proof of other items (i.e.,

dependency and successive employment) further demonstrates that the past

service credits are not hinged initiation in the union. It is undisputed that

apprentices were members of the collective bargaining unit, and the facts show

that Kennedys membership in the collective bargaining unit (through his

employment with participating employers) was continuous arafoklen For

these reasons, we conclude that a fair reading of Section 4.01(b) would entitle

Kennedy to past service credits.
Id. (footnote omitted).

The plaintiff's reliance on Kennedy unavailing forseveral reasondgirst, while it is
true that thel971 Plan, like the plan ikennedy does not make union initiation a prerequisite
for past service credit, the 1971 Plan dioe# past service credit to years during which an
employee was “employed under collectively bargained agreements@hitie.” 1971 Plan 8
2.1. The defendants here did not deny past service credit to the plaintiff solely based on the
timing of his Union initiation Rather, theyetermined that the plaintiff failed to present reliable
evidence that he worked under Unmwilective bargaining agreements prior to his documented
Union initiationdate of August 1, 1962, and,the absencefeuch evidence, theyeemed it
unlikely that the plaintiff’s work was covered prior to hision initiation Secondywhereas the
plaintiff in Kennedyindisputablywasan “active member of the ‘Collective Bargaining Unit™
based on his status as an apprentice electrician, 954 F.2d at 1242 that it was

“undisputed that apprentices were members of the collective bargainit)g it nd so clear

here that the plainti® status as a journeymaecessarily meate was‘employed under
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collectively bagained agreements of the Uniamithin the meaning of Section 2.1 of the 1971
Plan. Here @ain, the only support fahe plaintiff’'s posiion is his own testimonyyhich the
defendants discredited due to other evidence they considered more convincing, imak&arm
which this Court is not at liberty to weiglgeeWilcox, 552 F.3d at 702.

For the foregoing reasons, the Court conclubdasthe defendants reasonably denied the
plaintiff past service credit for his claimed work from 1959 to 1862.

2. Past Service Credit for Work Performedfrom 1962 through 1965

Beforeaddressing thdefendants’ calculation of th@aintiff’'s past serviceredits from
1962 through 1965, two initial matters of Plan interpretation must be addréssed first issue
is whether the plaintiff should be granteihera full year of past service credit or no credit at all
for work he performed before October11965, that did not span a full year. As previously
discussedthe defendantsriginally accorded the plaintif8.3 past service credits for work from
August 1, 1962to October 31, 1965SeeDefs.” Renew. Mem Ex. 45 (July 9, 2010 Letter from
Gary J. Meyers to Neil Intrater Réan James Benefit Appeal) at Blowever, at the plaintiff's
urging, the Courtleterminedhat the defendants’ attribution of 3.3 credits rested on an

unreasonable interpretation of the 1971 Plan, which plainly does not pertait @adit for past

° The Court notes that, even assuming the plaintiff’si}9@2 work was covered under Union collective bargaining
agreements, the plaintiff's entitlement to past service credit for this timapeould still be questionable because
he has not shown that he worked full years undeselagreements. As explairiafta at page 27 of this
memorandum opinion, the defendants reasonably concluded that thela@#&hly awards past service credit for
complete years of work (measured in terms of “fiscal year[s]” runnorg fdovember 1 to @ober 31), and thus
does not allow partial credit for past service. Yet, the plaintiff's SSA eggmeport shows that he intermittently
moved from job to job between 1959 and 1962, casting doubt on whether he perfdhyear$uf work under
Union collective bargaining agreemengeePl.’s Renew. Mot., Ex. 46 (SSA Itemized Statement of Earnioigs f
lan Philip James) at3. The defendants highlighted this fact in one of their denial of benef#swierations, but
did not explain why the fact was relevant under the terms dfafigé Plan.SeeDefs.” Renew. Mem., Ex. 45 (July
9, 2010 Letter from Gary J. Meyers to Neil Intrater Re: lan James BApgftal) at J“[t]he Trustees recognize
that there is prior work with glass industry employers on the SSA garreports, but [the plaintifff moved from
job to job.”).

10 Unless otherwise indicated, all further references to the Plan refer to theer8ith of the Plan.
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service, and accordingly remanded the case to the defendants for a revisetiaalctithe
plaintiff's past service creditsSeptember 19, 2011 Order at 6-8. On remand by this Court, the
defendants concluded that the plaintiffarentitled toonly 3 yeas of past service credits. Pl.’s
Suppl. Mem., Ex. 53 (October 13, 2011 Letter from Kent Cprek to Neil Intratéi%.a

Although the plaintiff challenges this conclusion by contending that the 1971 Plan provides
full year d past service credit for any parta year worked under a collective bargaining
agreemenprior to October 1, 1965, Pl.’s Suppl. Reply at 5, the Cwastalready determined
that1971 Plan provision concernipgst service credis ambiguous, and that, werdone
reasonable readingf thatprovision, “an employee is required to work fdulh yearin order to
receive one year of past service crédBeptember 19, 201Qrder at 5emphasis added).
Because the defendants have essenaalbpted thiseasonable interpretation of the 1971 Plan’s
past service cdbt provision, the plaintiff's challeng® it must be rejected.

The second issue of Plan interpretation concerns the calculation of seeditéacrwork
performedn October 1965.The 1971 Pan grants one year of past service credit for each “fiscal
year” beforeOctober 11965, that an employee worked under a Union collective bargaining
agreementl971 § 2.1, and*“fiscal year” is defined as “the period from November 1, through
October 37’ id. 8 1.9 (emphasis added). But the 1971 Plan also provides $etuiee credit
for work performedafter October 11965. Id. § 2.2. This languagguggestshat certain
employees are entitldd both past and future serviceeditfor work performedin October 1965.
For example, if an employee worked from November 1, 1964, to October 31, 1966, that
employee would be entitled past service credibr November 1, 1964, to October 31, 1965,

and future service for October 1, 1965, to October 31, 1966, thus granting the employee double
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credit for October 1965. The defendants found that the 1971 Plan required such an award of
double credit for the plaintiff's work in October 196Befs.” Renew. Mem.Ex. 45 (July 9,
2010 Letter from Gary J. Meyers to Nkitrater Re:lan James Benefit Appeal) atsealso
Defs.” Renew. Memat 18 (stating that “[t}he Trustees found that work in October 1965 counts
toward pastindfuture service . . . This somewhat odd result is commanded by the 1971 Plan
document.(enphasis in origina)) The plaintiff does not directly respond to this contention,
but the Court agrees with the defendants that the 197k Réams compel theonclusionthey
reached"

TheCourt’sfocus thus turns to theasonableness of tdefendarg’ past service credit
calculation. The defendardsvarded 3 years of past service crédlithe plaintiff for work
starting on his August 1, 1962 Union initiation date and ending on October 31 ti®6kscal
year” enddate. Defs.” Renew. MemEx. 45 (July 9, 2010 Letter from Gary J. Meyers to Neil
Intrater Relan James Benefit Appeal) at 3; Pl.’'s Suppl. Mem., Ex. 53 (October 13, 2011 Letter
from Kent Cprek to Neil Intrater) at3. The plaintiff was thereforeredited for work starting in
November 1, 1962, and ending on October 31, 198#s calculatioris supported by the Union
membership records, which show an August 1, 1962 initiation date, and the 1973 Pension
Record which lists the plaintiff as having 3.3 past service credits. Consistinthe
defendantsteasonable interpretatiar the 1971 Plan’s ambiguous past service credit provision,
0.3 creditsvereomittedfrom the 3.3 figure found in the 1973 Pension Rebachusgartial

credit is nofgranted for past service and employeestbadorka full year to eard past service

" The Court had previously expressed concern about the defendants inexpticapping” past service credit for
the plaintiff's work in 1965.SeeJames710 F. Supp. 2d at 27 n.4. However, the defendants’ subsequent
explanations make clear that they did not omit any credit for 1965, anaiahk performed in October 1965 was
actudly counted twice.
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credit. Because an award of 3 years past service credit is supportedregditeevidencand
becausehe Courtdiscernsnoerrorin the defendants’ resolution of the 1971 Plan’s ambiguous
provisions, the Cotideems the&lefendants’ past service credit calculation reasonable.

The plaintiff critiques the defendants’ reliance on the 1973 Pension Rassatting that
the document is “patently incorrect” because it grants partial credit fos@aste, even thugh
the1971 Plan plainly desnot permit partial pasesvice credit. Pl.’'s Renew. Maat 310. To
be sure, the past service cradditculationan the 1973 Pension Record appeatefitect the
defendants’ prior, mistaken belief that the 1971 Plamwalipartial years for past servicesofar
as the record lists past service credits as decimal numbers rather than whHidesn8eePI.’s
Mot., Ex. 13 (1973 Pension RecprdBut that does not render the recatterly worthless.On
the contrary, th&@973 Pension Record is one of fees contemporaneougcords available in
this case, rad while itspast service credit figur@sayrest on an erroneous interpretation of the
1971 Planthereis no indication that the data contained therefagsuallyinaccurateor that the
document is inauthentid-urthermorethe record’s attribution of 3.3 yearspdstservice credit
to the plaintiff is corroborately the record in this case, iaseflectsservicestarting orthe
plaintiff's documented Union ingition dateof August 1, 1962and ending o®ctober 31, 1965,
the“fiscal year’enddateunder the 1971 PlarGeeDefs.” Renew. MemEx. 45 (July 9, 2010
Letter from Gary J. Meyers to Neil Intrater Ran James Benefit Appeal) a{é&«plaining that
“[t] he time from August 1, 1962 . . . to October 31, 1965 . . .would be three (3 years) and three
months, or 3 and 3/12 years. This would be 3.25 years in decimal terms that would round up to
3.3 years for records kept in 1/10 yearsThe Courtalso views as reasonable the defendants’

explanation of why they generally rely on such plan records in making betegBtsninations.
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Seeid. (statingthat “[t]he Trustees’ inclination is to rely on plan records, particulathey are
consistent with other records, as the best basis for uniform treatment of alee®pl Absent
some indication that the Local 963 Plan record is clearly erroneous, the Trusteesiaclined
to try to recreate the distant past based on [the plaintiff's] claims alonBegaisethe Court
agreeghat thel973 Pension Record does appeaio be“clearly erroneous,id., it cannot fault
thedefendants for relying upon it.

3. Future Service Credit for Work Performed from 1965 through 1972

Having found that the defendants reasonably attribBitgehrs of past service cretbt
the plaintiff the Courinext examinethedefendants’ award of futuservice credit. Relying on
the 1973 Pension Record and the plaintiff's S&knings reporthe defendants awarded the
plaintiff 6.2 years of future service credit. Defs.” Mot., Ex. 4 (March 3, 2008 Letter fram G
Meyers to Neil Intrater) at 3; Defs.” Renew. MeiBx. 45 (July 9, 2010 Letter from Gary J.
Meyers to Neil Intrater Rdan James Benefit Appeal) at 4. This award cowenk from
October 1, 1965, to some unspecified date in April 1972. Defs.” Renew. Mem., Ex. 45 (July 9,
2010 Letter from Gary J. Meyers to Neil Intrater Ret James Benefit Appeal) at 4.

Theplaintiff does not appear to raise any specific challeagkd defendants’ future
service credit award of 6.2 yeark their July 9, 2010 benefits determinatletier,the
defendants statdtiat they understood the plaintiff “nfb] contest the future service calculation
of 6.2 years of (contributory) service, except to claim an additional 1.58 yearsref $etvice
credit. This credit is partially in 1972, but more importantly in 1979 and 1980.For 1972,
the plaintiff sought a “full year of credit.1d.; see alsdefs.” Mot., Ex. 35 (April 18, 200Fax

from Neil Intrater to Gary Meyeyst 4 (claiming entitlement to “1.00” credit for work in 1972
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with “F&M Shaeffer/Beltway Glass”). The defendants declined to grant anectit because the
1973 Pension Recofdlready slow[s] 0.8 years of credit for 1972,” and, in any event, “0.2
years credit would not create vested rights.” Defs.” Renew. Mem., Ex. 45 (July 9, 2640 Le
from Gary J. Meyers to Neil Intrater Re: lan James Benefit Appeal) &s fpreviously stated,
the Court does not view the detiants’ reliance on thE973 Pension Record as unreasonable,
and it therefore finds no error in thelietermination that the plaintiff was entitlexl0.8 years of
credit for 1972 rather than 1.0 credithe Courtalso agrees witthe defendants’ conclusion
that, even if the plaintiff were granted an additional 0.2 service credits, hd stdufall short of
the 10 service credits required for vesting.

In sum, the defendants reasonably concluded that the plaintiff was entitled to 3 pas
service credit$or years 1962 through 1965 and 6.2 future service credits for years 1965 through
1972, for a total of 9.2 service credits. It follows that the plaintiff does not haveea ypestsion
under the 1971 Plan since he did not accrue 10 years of service credit prior to his ackmbwledge
break in service from 1973 to 1978. Under the plain language of the 1971 Plan, the plaintiff lost
all service credit, both past and future, upon this break in séfvi8ee1971 Plan § 2.3.

Summary judgment as to the plaintiff's wrongful denial of benefits claim will acagisdbe
granted in the defendants’ favor.

4. The Adequacy of the Defendants’ Explanation for Denial of Benefits

The plaintiff asserts that the defendants have failed to provide him with an
“understandablexplanation for the denial of benefits” in violation of 29 U.S.C. § 1133. 3d Am.

Compl.  39. This section of the ERISIKects thatevery employee benefit plamhust

2 This ruling moots the need for any inquiry asveether the defendants reasonably denied the pldintiffe
savice credits for 1979 and 1980.
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(1) provide adequate notice in writing to any participant or beneficiary whose
claim for benefits under the plan has been denied, setting forth the specific
reasons for such denial, written in a manner calculated to be understood by the
participant, and

(2) afford a reasonable opportunity to any participant whose claim for benefits has
been denied for a full and fair review by the appropriate named fiduciary of the
decision denwg the claim.

29 U.S.C. § 1133TheDepartment of Labor’s regulations adoptedtplement this statutory

directive requireplanadministratos to provide writte notification to a claimant dfany

adverse beafit determinatioh setting forth

in a manner calculated tee lunderstood by the claimant . (i). [tjhe specific
reason or reasons for the adverse determination; (ii) [rleference to thacspecif
plan provisions on which the determination is based; (iii) [a] description of any
additional material or information necessary for the claimant to perfect the claim
and an explanation of why such mateaalnformation is necessary.

29 C.F.R. § 2560.503-1(g)(1).

The District of Columbia Circuit hasstablishedhe following standards for evaluating

alleged violations of Section 1133

Along with our sister circuits, we have adopted the “substantial compliance” test
to determine whether denial notices comply veiéiction 1133 and the regulation.
See Heller v. Fortis Benefits Ins. Co., 142 F.3d 487, 493 (DAG. 1998).
Technical noncompliance will be excused as long as the notice substantially
complies with the statute and regulatioBeeid. In assessing whetha notice
substantially complies, we consider not just the notice itself, but all
communications between the insurance company and the claintaee. id.
Courts make the substantial compliance determination on abgasese basis,
assessing the informah provided by the insurer in the context of the
beneficiary’s claim.Helleris typical:

[A]lthough the initial letter from [the insurer] informing [the
claimant] of the denial of her disability benefits did not conform to
the requirements of the regulations, “the procedures, when viewed
in light of the myriad communications between claimant, her
counsel and the insurer, [appear] sufficient to meet the purposes of
Section 1133 in insuring that the claimant understood the reasons
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for the denial of [her beefits] as well as height to review of the
decision.”

142 F.3d at 493 (quoting Kent v. United Omabha Life Ins. Co., 96 F.3d 803, 807
(6th Cir.1996)).

White v. Aetna Life Ins. C0210 F.3d 412, 41@.C. Cir. 2000)(some internal citations
omitted) “[A]n administrator’'s compliance with § [1138] making an adverse benefit
determination is probative of whether the decision to deny lieneds arbitrary and capricious,”

Miller v. Am. Airlines, Inc, 632 F.3d 837, 851 (3d Cir. 2011) (collecting cases), or, in the

parlance of this Circuit, “unreasonabl@&lock, 952 F.2d at 1455°

In challenging the defendants’ actions under Section 113pJdheiff maintains that the
defendants have refused to explain how they calculatedott@iaward (vhich wes later
retractedl of $409.68 in monthly pension benefits, despite the plaintiff's repeated requests for
such an explanation. Pl.’s Renew. Mot. at 17-19. He contends that the ERISA “does not permit
the [d]efendants to claim that the previous pensiondwass a calculation error without ever
explaining what the calculation error wadd. at 19.

The Court is not persuaded by the plaintiff's angumts While the Court accepts the
plaintiff's implicit (but unarticulatedpremise that the defendantstnaction of the $409.68
awardwasan “adverse benefit determination” to which the ERISA notice requirements appl
see?29 C.F.R. § 2560.508(g)(1), itfinds that thelefendants “substantially complied” with those

notice requirementsy explaining the reasons for theetraction. After initially notifying the

13 For the defendants’ alleged violation of Section 1133, the plaintifsstekutory pealties under 29 U.S.C. §
1132(c)(1)(B). See3d Am. Compl. 11 4@2. As the Court explains below, however, statutory penalties under
Section 1132(c)(1)(B) are not available for violations of Section 15&®infra at 4:42. Nevertheless, because a
violation of Section 1133’s notice requirements may be grounds to deemeheales’ denial of benefits
determination unreasonable, the Court will proceed to analyze the plaiatgfiments made pursuant to Section
1133.
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plaintiff of the $409.68 award on June 27, 2007, the defendants sent the plaintiff a letter
containing d'breakdown of the calculation regarding [the plaintiff's] benefit.” Defs.” MBK.
38 (August 16, 2007 Letter from Gary Meyers to Neil Intrater) at 1. As previoagdy, this
breakdown showed that tldefendants’ calculain of the $409.68 awandas arithmetically
incorrect. Id.; seesupra at 7 n.4The defendants later confirmed that the award rested on a
mathematical error itheir June 19, 2008tter retracting th&409.68venefit award.PIl.’s Mot.,
Ex. 8 (June 19, 2008 Letter from Gary Meyers to lan Jaatds2. The plaintiff resists this
explanationinsisting that there was sorsert of undisclosed formula that the defendants used to
reachthe $409.68 figureseePl.’s Mot. at 9, buthere is no indication that this calcudat was
anything other than amnest mistake.

In any event, the Court is satisfied that the defendants’ various correspondence, when
viewed in the aggregatésubstantially complied” with the ERISA’s notice requiremerfige,
e.qg, Defs.” Mot., Ex. 4 (March 3, 2008 Letter from Gary Meyers to Neil Intraejs.” Renew.
Mem., Ex. 45 (July 9, 2010 Letter fro@ary J. Meyers to Neil Intrater Re: lan James Benefit
Appeal); Pl.’s Suppl. Mem., Ex. 53 (October 13, 2011 Letter from Kent Cprek to Neil ihtrate
Indeed, the plaintiff does not disputet thesdetters contained “[t]he specific reason or reasons
for the adverse determinations,” and cited the “specific plan provisions on which the
determination[s] [were] based.” 29 C.F.R. § 2560.503-1(g)(1). The defendants also dglequate
described what “additional material or information [was] necessary for timaclato perfect
the claim,”id., by noting that the plaintiff had “not produced any reliable evidence of additional
service beyond the [1973 Pension Retdrkcept for his own “belated and sakérving”

testimony, Defs.” Mot., Ex. 4 (March 3, 2008 Letteom Gary Meyers to Neil Intrater)2, and
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by pointing out the absence of “evidence of any contributions to the Local 963 Plan forywork b
[the plaintiff] after October 1, 1976,” Defs.” Renew. Mem., Ex. 45 (July 9, 2010 Letter from
Gary J. Meyers to Neintrater Re: lan James Benefit Appeai)2 And the defendants advised
the plaintiff of his rght to challenge their decisiom federal court pursuant to the ERIS8ee
Defs.” Mot., Ex. 4 (March 3, 2008 Letter from Gary Meyers to Neil Ietja4 (sating that the
plaintiff “has now exhausted his remedies under the Plan,thertch “claimant who disagrees
with the Plan’s decision or lack thereof may file suit in federal court[] uBdetion 502(a) of
[the] ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a), following an adverse benefit determinatidks™a
consequence, even if the initial June 19, 2008 letter retracting the $409.68 benefivawar
inadequate, the Court finds that ttefendantsvarious correspondence, as a whole, discharged
their notice obligations under the ERIS&eeHeller, 142 F.3d at 493 (“[A]lthough the initial
letter from [the insurer] informing [the plaintiff] of the denial of her disabibignefits did not
conform to the requirements of the regulations, the procedures, when viewed iftight o
myriad communications between claimant, her counsel and the insurer, [aupgeignt to
meet the purposes of Section 1133 in insuring that the claimant understood the reasons for the
denial of [her benefits] as well as her right to review of the decision.” (idtguatationmarks
and citation omitted; alterations in origijal The Court thus findthe plaintiff's challenge
under the ERISA’s notice requirements unavailing.
C. The Plaintiff’'s Claim f or Failure to Produce Plan Documents

Count 5 of the third amended complaseeksdamages under 29 U.S.C. § 1132(c)(1)(B),
a provision of the ERISA thaequiresplan administrators to provide information requested by

plan participants or beneficiaries witt80 days of such a request,face astautory penalty.
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Specifically, the plaintifasserts that defendant Gary Meyers, the plan administrator, failed to
furnish copies “of the relevant plans and regulations”#mal [p]laintiff's records,”among other
things, despit¢éhe plaintiff'srepeatedvritten requestfor these documents. 3d Am. Compl. 1
40-42.

1. Statutory Standing

As an initial matterthe Court must determine whether the plaintiff has statutory standing
to seek damagesider 29 U.S.C. § 1132(c)(1)(B). To have such standnegplantiff must be

either a “participant” or a “beneficiary” within the meagiof the ERISA.See29 U.S.C. §

1132(a)(1)(A) Chuck v. Hewlett Packard Co., 455 F.3d 1026, 1038 (9th Cir. 2@¥)ausehe
plaintiff does not claim to be a “beneficiarylie Courtmust assesshether he is a “participant,”
a term that the ERISA defines in pertinent part as “anyormer employee . . who is or may
become eligible to receive a benefit of any type feomemployee benefit plan.” 29 U.S.C. §
1002(7). The Supreme Colmdsconstrued this definitioof “participant”to include “former

employees . .who have aolorable clainto vested benefits.Firestone Tire & Rubber Co. v.

Bruch 489 U.S. 101, 117-18 (1989) (internal quotation markscaationomitted; emphasis
added. For a former employée#o establish that he or she may become eligibldémefits,

[the] claimant must have a colorable claim that (1) he or she will prevail in a suit fditbeore
that (2) eligibility requirements will be fulfilled in the fututeld. The plaintiff does not contend
that eligibility requirements will be satisfied in the futuse theissue here isshether the

plaintiff had a colorablelaim that he would prevail in a suit for benefitshe timeheinstituted

this lawsuit SeeChuck, 455 F.3d at 1038-39T] he issue we facis whether [the plaintiffhad
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a colorable claim that he would prevail in a suit for benefits. Our examinatems [the
plaintiff's] status as of the time he filed his complaint.
“The requirements for a colorable claim are not stringent; a plaintiff need higva on

nonfrivolous claim for the benefit in questidriKamler v. H/N Telecomm. Servs., InG05 F.3d

672, 678 (7th Cir. 2002%¢ert.denied 538 U.S. 946 (2003accod Davis v. Featherstone, 97

F.3d 734, 737 (4th Cir. 1996); Abraham v. Exxon Corp., 85 F.3d 1126, 1129 (5th Cir. 1996).

And even though the Court has ruled that the plaintiff's wrongful denta¢@fits claimfails on
the merits, that does ndéfeat histandingas a “participantto seek danges under Section
1132(c)(1)(B), for the plaintiff need only possess a “colorable” claim, not assfatene.See

Zirnhelt v. Mich. Consol. Gas Co., 526 F.3d 282, 290 (6th Cir. 20@)en thoughthe

plaintiff's] claim for benefits failed in the end, she still had a ‘colorablefrcldj Neuma, Inc. v.

AMP, Inc., 259 F.3d 864, 878 (7th Cir. 2001) (“Even in cases where a plaintiff's claim

ultimately failed, the ‘possibilitydf success was sufficient to establish participant or beneficiary
status’) (collecting cases); Davi®7 F.3d at 73388 (“A claim iscolorable if it is arguable and
nonfrivolous, whether or not it would succeed on the m&risbraham85 F.3d at 1129 (“[The
plaintifff may have ERISA standirgyen if he is ultimately not entitled to receive benefits under
the plan?).

In the Court’s view, thelaintiff presented aolorableclaim to vested benefits at the time
hefiled this action. The plaintiffmaintained then, as he does ntwathe worked in covered
employment for over 14 years. This work historyrédited would have entitled him to a
vested pension undd#re plain terms ogither the 1971 or 1993 version of thechb963 Plan

Moreover, the defendants admittibaéteven they werensure of the vestingiles applicable to
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the plaintiff's claims until he instituted this lawsuis theystatedin one of their denial of
benefits letters[t]he [plaintiff] appear[ed] to have the 10 years of vested service requyrdteb
1993 Local 963 printout under” the “lower threshold” for service credit found in the 1993 Plan.
Defs.’ Mot., Ex. 4 (March 3, 2008 Letter from Gary Meyers to Neil Intrater) aHdwever,”
the defendantadded “the lawsuit has resulted indaeper revievof Local 96 plan documents
by counsel that indicate different vesting rules for the [plaintiff] in 1978."at 4. The
defendants’ uncertainty regarding the plainsiffested status fartherevidenced by theinitial
award of $409.68 in monthly pension betgfivhich they later retracted upon conducting their
“deeper review” of the Local 963 Plan records after the plaintiff 8latl Pl.’'s Mot., Ex. 8
(June 19, 2008 Letter from Gary Meyers to lan James) at 1. Given that the defendants
themselves were unguwhether the plaintiff had vested benefits under the Local 963Ptha
time this lawsuit was filed, the plaintiff's claimould hardly be characterized as frivolo&ee
Zirnhelt, 526 F.3d at 290 (holding that former employee had coloradil® ¢bvested benefits
where she worketbr employer for 12 years ariceasonably could have believed that those
years of service satisfide plans tenryear[vesting]requirement,” and where tlenployer
“failed to define theorecise vesting requirements apgiile to [the plaintiff's] claim$in its
variousbenefitdenial determinations Thus,becausehe plaintiff had a colorable claim to
vested kenefits when he filed his complaint, he Iséstutory standing as a “participant” to seek
damages under Secti@d32(c)(1)(B).

2. The Merits of the Plaintiff's Claim for Failure to Produce Plan Documents

Havingdeterminedhat the plaintifhasstanding to seek damages under Section

1132(c)(1)(B), the Court now must consider whether he is entitled to those dardages.the
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ERISA, plan administrators must, “upon written request ofamticipant or beneficiaryurnish

a copy of the latest updated summary, plan description, and the latest annual reportharal ter
report, the bargaining agreement, trust agreement, contract, or other @mgwmder which the
plan is established or operated.” 29 U.S.C. § 1024(b)(4). Plan administrators must abo furni
“upon written request” of a “participant or beneficiary,” a “pension benefgrstant” that lists

“the total benefits accrued” as well as “t@nforfeitable pension benefits” already accrued or, if
not accrued,the earliest date on which benefits vildcome nonforfeitable.1d. 8 1025(a). As

the Seventh Circuit has recognized, the purposesske dis@sure requirements is émsure that
participants have “the information necessary to determine [their] eligitolitgdnefits under the
plan, to understand [their] rights under the plan, to identify the persons to whom management of
plan funds has been entrusted, and to ascertain the procedures [they] must follow o order t

obtain benefits.”_Mondry v. Am. Family Mut. Ins. Co., 557 F.3d 781,(783Cir.2009)

(internal citations omitted). If the plan administrator failsamply with a request for sh
informationwithin 30 days, Section 1132(c)(1)(B) authosiige imposition oktatutory
penalties Specifically, the statute provides in pertinent part that

[a]lny administrator. . . who fails or refuses to comply with a request for any
information which such administrator is required by this subchapter to furnish to a
participant or beneficiary (unless such failure or refusal results fratters
reasonably beyond the control of the administrator) by mailing the material
requested to the last knowndadss of the requesting participant or beneficiary
within 30 days after such request may in the cewiscretion be personally liable

to such participant or beneficiary in the amount of up to $100 a day from the date
of such failure or refusal, and the court may in its discretion order such other
relief as it deems proper.

1d. § 1132(c)(1)(B).
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The plaintiff submittedis initial document request to the defendants by letter dated
Deember 12, 2006. Pl.’s Mot., Ex. 16 (December 12, 2006 LetterMeihintrater to Gary
Meyers)at 1-2. This letter contained the following eleveequests:

1. A clear and complete explanation as to exactly why Mr. Jacha@s) has been
denied with specific attention to years 1959 through 1972.

2. A copy of Mr. Janes’ complete union and fund records as timay relate to
his pension in any way from 1959 through the present.

3. A statement of exactly what months from 1959 through J@{Pclaim Mr.
James did not work under a bargaining agreement of the union.

4. The full document containing the articles and sectionshgwe cited and all
related documents.

5. A full, clear explanation of the relationship between $ketions you have
cited and Mr. James’ factual situatimeluding specific dates.

6. A list of each year from 1959 through 1972 specifyingrthmber of hours he
worked each year under a bargainagyeement of the union and the number of
credits he has fagach year.

7. A copy of the fund plan and any related rules and regulatidmish is
appicable to Mr. James relative to his uniemployment from 1959 through
1972.

8. Any 1966 Glaziers Local 963 Pension Fund documents in effempplicable
to years 1959 through 1972.

9. A copy of the current Pension Fund and any related documents.

10. A copy of any merger agreement and any other documgated in any way
to the merger of Glaziers Local 963 witie IUPAT and any documents which
affect benefits therefrom.

11. A calculation, with an explanation of the formula usedha# much Mr.
James would receive in monthly beneféssuming he worked under a bargaining
agreement of the uniofrom 1959 through 1972 and his wife was born on
6/18/55.
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Id. The plaintiff subsequentlynade seven morequests for these documents by correspondence
daed March 26, April 5, April 18, July 5, July 12, July 17, and August 17 of 2007. Pl.’s Mot.,
Exs.17-23. It is unclear when, if ever, the defendants provided the requested docuntkats to
plaintiff. The record does reveidlat thedefendants producedetentire application file”to the
plaintiff on August 16, 2007, Def.’s Mot., Ex. 38 (August 16, 2007 Letter fromy Mawyersto
Neil Intrater) at 1put there is no indicatioas to whatnformationthat file contained.

Although the plaintiffs various submissiorfail to identify which ofthe requested
documents are purportedipvered by the ERISA’s disclosure requiremetite Court can
initially dispose of twdypes of requested documents that plainly are not subject to production.
Thefirst is the“union records” sought by the plaintifSee3d Am. Compl. { 40-42 (seeking
statutory penaltieander Section 1132(c)(1)(B) for defendant Meyer’s alleged failure to provide
“union employment records”). The Court does not disbem these records fallithin anyof
the categories oPlan documentdesignatedn Section 1024(b)(4), and the plaintififersno
argument and citeso legal authority in support of his position that such documents must be
produced.Likewise,the “clear explanation” for theenial of thebenefitssoughtby the plaintiff
while required by another provision of the ERIS&e29 U.S.C. § 1133(1) (directing employee
benefit plans to “provide adequate notice in writing to any participant or bemgfighose claim
for benefits under the plan has been denied, setting forth the specific reasons fonsich de
written in a manner calculated to be understood by the parti§penhot a Plan document
subject to mandatory disclosure under Section 1024(biNd).can the plaintiffecoverstatutory
penalties under Section 1132(c)(1)(B) for the defendaliegjedfailure to provide such an

explanation SeeMedina v. Metro. Life Ins. Co., 588 F.3d 41, 48 (1st Cir. 200@)g'well
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established that a violation of § 1133 and its implementing regulations does not trigg&ryone
sanctions under § 1132{k)collecting cases).

On the other handwb of the requested documenitsappear tde subject to mandatory
disclosure under Section 1024(lhirst, the“copy of thecurrentPension Furid(the plaintiff's
ninth request in the above list) is expressly covered by Section 1024®B#e)9 U.S.C. §
1024(b)(4) (requiring production, upon request, of the “plan description” and “other instsument

under which the plan is established oexgted”) see als€CurtissWright Corp. v.

Schoonejongen, 514 U.S. 73, 84 (1995) (interpreting identical language in Section 1024(b)(2)

and noting that theERISA requires that every plan administrator make availablall

currently operative, governing plan documents” (emphasis added)). S#wsitfdll document

containing the articles and sections ymve cited (the plaintiff's fourth request in the above
list) also falls within the scopef the ERISA’s disclosure requiremerifsBy way of backgrand
as to this request, the defendants sent the plaintiff two letters in 2005 thatlgugtexte from
unidentified versions of the Local 963 Plan as the basis for denying him bentfastwi
explaining the source of the quotatimnattaching a copy of trguoted documentSeeDef.’s
Mot., Ex. 18 (March 29, 2005 Letter froGary Meyers to lan James) aid., Ex. 25 (August
23, 2005 Letter from Gary Meyers to lan James) at 1. Accordingly, this docuassm w
“instrument[]Junder which the plan” was “operated” by the defendants when theyddée
plaintiff benefits,andwasthereforesubject to mandatory disclosure within 30 days upotien

request by the plaintiffSee29 U.S.C. § 1024(b)(4)This istrue even though the defendants

14 While neither the plaintiff'sdurth or ninth document requests contain the word “plan,” context ieditaat
these requests refer to the formal plan document. The defendants do uitet tthisppoint. In fact, these particular
document requests are not even discussed in the dafehdpposition brief.SeeDefs.” Mem. at 1614.
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ultimately deérmined that a different version of the Local $88n governghe plaintiff's
claims. SeeMondry, 557 F.3d at 80t¢lding that “[w]hen a claims administrator mistakenly
relies on an expired version of the plan document, a set of internal guidelinag,ather
extraneous document in lieu of the governing plan language and, indeed, citesuhgdanfg
that document as controlling to the participant, then the participant must havetadbess
document in order to understand what the claims adnatostis doing and to effectively assert
his rights under the plai). The defendants do not dispute that they failed to comply with these
two particular requestsithin 30 days of receiving the plaintiff's letter datedcember 12,
2006,seeDef.’'s Mem. & 10-14,andthe plantiff’'s numerous correspondenssjuesing
production of theedocuments, which continueckll into August 2007, corroboratke
defendants’ noncompliance.

The Courthereforefinds that defendant Meyers violated the ERISA’suduert
disclosure requirementd.his does not mean, however, that statutory penalties are a foregone
conclusion.Rather,“[t] he imposition of penalties for violating [Section 1132(c)(1)(B)gft to

the discretion of the district codrtMcDonald v. Pension Plan of NYSA-ILA Pension Tr. Fund,

320 F.3d 151, 163 (2€Cir. 2003) see29 U.S.C. 8132(c)(1)(B). Approprate factors to be
considered beforenposing penalés include “bad faith or intentional conduct on the part of the
administrator, the lengthf the delay, the number of requests made and documents withheld, and

the existence of any prejudice to the participant or benefitiaRomero v. SmithKline

5 The Court notes that the two requested Plan documents that the defepganestly failed to provide to the
plaintiff—the “current Pension FundIf®]” and the “full [RFan] document containing the alés and sections you
have cited—may actually be the same document. As explained above, the defendanssglaited language
from an unidentified version of the Plan, so it may be the case thatthed®ument “cited” was, in fact, the
“current Pension Fund [Plan].”
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Beecham309 F.3d 113, 120 (3d Cir. 2002) (quoting Devlin v. Empire Blue Cross & Blue

Shield 274 F.3d 76, 90 (2d Cir. 2001)

Upon review of the current record, the Court finds that it is insufficient to eeghede
factors and determine whetherygrenalties should be impose8ipecifically, lased on the
parties’ current submissions, the Court is unable to assess the degree ofgsejsidimed by
the plaintiff, if any,resulting fromthe defendants’ failure tiimely producethe requested Plan
documents, or whether there was any intentional conduct or bad faith on defendant Metyer’'s pa
Moreover, because the current record does not reveal when, if ever, the defendantsl pneduce
requestedlocuments to the plaintjfthe Court is unable teterminethe length of the
defendants’ delay in producing the documents. And, the length of the delay is relelidnt bot
the Court’s decision of whether to impose penaltigbe first instanceseeRomerq 309 F.3d at
120, as well athe calculation of any penalties imposeee29 U.S.C. § 1024(b)(4) (providing
that plan administrators who violateetERISA’s disclosure requirements will be “personally

liable to such participant or beneficiary in the amount of up to $100 a day from the date of such

failure or refusdl (emphasis added)). Accordingly, both parties’ summary judgment motions

will be denied without prejudice as to the plaingf€laim for failure to produceld&h documents,
and the parties aidirected to submit supplemental briefing addressing tissses—and only
thoseissues—identified above by the Court.
V. CONCLUSION
For the forgoing reasons, the Court concludes that the defendants’ renewed motion for
summary judgment must be granted in part and denied in part, and that the plaintififsdene

motion for summary judgment must be deni&gecifically, the defendants are granted
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summary judgment a® (1) their determination that the 1971 Plan governs this case, and (2) the
plaintiff’'s wrongful denial of benefits claim. Both parties’ motions are denied without prejudic
as to the plaintiff’'s claim for flure to produce Plan documents, which, the Court nsesw
the only remaining claim in thisase as a result of the foregomjngs.

SO ORDEREDthis 24th day of February, 2012.

REGGIE B. WALTON
United States District Judge

®The Court will contemporaneously issue an order consistent with#isorandum opinion.

45



